FILED Court of Appeals Division III State of Washington 1/5/2023 12:19 PM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 1/5/2023 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

SUPREME COURT NO. 101603-4

NO. 38573-6-III

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

۷.

BRANDON HANKEL,

Petitioner.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR BENTON COUNTY

The Honorable Samuel P. Swanberg, Judge The Honorable Alexander C. Ekstrom, Judge

PETITION FOR REVIEW

DAVID B. KOCH Attorney for Petitioner

NIELSEN KOCH & GRANNIS, PLLC 2200 6TH Ave., Suite 1250 Seattle, WA 98121 (206) 623-2373

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Brandon Hankel, the appellant below, asks this Court to review his case.

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Hankel requests review of the Court of Appeals decision in <u>State v. Hankel</u>, COA No. 38573-6-III, filed December 6, 2022 and attached as an appendix.

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Whether defense counsel was ineffective for failing to ask the trial judge, at a bench trial, to convict petitioner of criminal trespass in the first degree (a gross misdemeanor) as an alternative to burglary in the second degree (a class B felony).

2. Whether review of this issue is appropriate under RAP 13.4(b)(2) because Division Three's opinion in petitioner's case conflicts with Division Two's published opinion in <u>State v. Classen</u>, 4 Wn. App. 2d 520, 422 P.3d 489 (2018).

-1-

3. Whether review of this issue is also appropriate under RAP 13.4(b)(3) because this case involves a significant question of federal constitutional law – whether this Court should overturn its decision in <u>State</u> <u>v. Grier</u>, 171 Wn.2d 17, 246 P.3d 1260 (2011), because it constitutes a patently unreasonable application of the Sixth Amendment under established federal law and <u>Crace v. Herzog</u>, 798 F.3d 840 (9th Cir. 2015).¹

4. Whether the Court of Appeals erred in finding that this Court's decision in <u>Grier</u> indicates that trial judges, presiding over bench trials, may no longer find defendants guilty of lesser-included offenses unless a party expressly asks the court do so.

¹ This issue is currently before this Court in <u>State v.</u> <u>Andrew Bertrand</u>, No. 100953-4.

5. Whether review of this issue is appropriate under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (b)(2) because Division Three's discussion of this issue conflicts with prior published decisions from this Court and the Court of Appeals regarding a judge's authority at a bench trial to find a defendant guilty of a lesser offense (whether asked or not).

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. Trial Proceedings

The Benton County Prosecutor's Office charged Brandon Hankel with burglary in the second degree, alleged to have occurred at Kennewick High School. The charge included a sexual motivation sentencing enhancement. CP 1-2.

Hankel waived his right to jury trial and agreed to have his fate determined by the Honorable Samuel Swanberg. RP 3; CP 7-8.

-3-

During opening statements, defense counsel conceded Hankel was guilty of trespassing at the school, but denied his intent to commit an additional crime on the property, meaning he was not guilty of burglary. RP 33-34. Judge Swanberg asked counsel whether she was asking for consideration of a lesser-included trespass offense and counsel responded that she was not. RP 34.

Judge Swanberg's written findings of fact and conclusions of law accurately summarize the trial evidence. CP 40-46.

In 2014, the Kennewick School District excluded Hankel from entering any school property. RP 31, 36-38; exhibit 2. Despite the exclusion, on the morning of September 6, 2019, Hankel entered the grounds of Kennewick High School. RP 40-42.

P.E. teacher Giana Marquardt was in her office, located in the "annex gym," preparing for classes that day. RP 38-41. The office is approximately 6' x 8' and

-4-

has a door, within which is a window, that allows her to look outside the office and into the remainder of the annex. RP 40-41, 49. Hankel entered the annex building, turned right, and walked up three stairs that lead to a gym, a hallway, and Marquardt's office door. RP 42-43. No one else was in the building. RP 42.

Marquardt's door was open and she turned her attention to Hankel, who was about five feet away, when she saw him in her peripheral vision. RP 42, 50. Hankel, who was wearing shorts and a baggy sweatshirt, appeared too old to be a student and was obviously looking around. RP 43.

Marquardt asked, "can I help you?" Hankel responded, "can you help me?" Marquardt then repeated, "can I help you?" RP 43. Hankel asked for the time, Marquardt said it was 8:03, and Hankel responded, "what?" RP 43. Marquardt then got up, approached

-5-

Hankel and, from a foot or two away, showed him the time on her watch. RP 43-44, 47-48.

Hankel looked at Marquardt, put his hands on the door frame, leaned in, and said, "I want to fuck you." RP 44, 48-49. Marquardt was extremely frightened and temporarily froze. RP 44, 46. She felt vulnerable and believed Hankel's "intentions weren't good." RP 46. She stepped back and then slammed her locked office door in Hankel's face. RP 44, 49.

Marquardt could see Hankel looking at her through the closed door as she used her "bat phone" to report the situation and request assistance. RP 45. She knew that Hankel was aware she was making the call and wondered whether he had a knife or gun in his sweatshirt. RP 45. But Hankel did not interact with her again, instead running from the building. RP 45. Marquardt then retreated to a small laundry room and shower area directly behind her

-6-

office, waiting there until someone responded to her call. RP 46-47, 58.

Hankel was subsequently spotted by staff walking on campus, "ducking behind cars" and "kind of scurrying around" the school parking lot.² RP 53, 59. His location was pointed out to school security and the school's resource officer, Kennewick Police Officer Michael Rosane. RP 58-60, 62-65. Hankel refused to stop, running off campus and hiding in the yard of a nearby residence before being located and arrested. RP 65-66. Hankel repeatedly told Officer Rosane, "I just asked her what time it was, and she freaked out." RP 66. Following Hankel's arrest, Officer Rosane spoke to Marquardt, who was visibly distraught and crying. RP 73.

Judge Swanberg ruled that evidence of an incident in 2013 was sufficiently similar to the current allegations

-7-

² School security cameras recorded Hankel on campus that day. RP 67-73; exhibit 4.

to be admissible under the common scheme or plan exception to ER 404(b). RP 18-19, 76-80; CP 34-49.

City of Kennewick employee Jacqueline Aman testified concerning that incident. RP 81-82. On the morning of May 1, 2013, Aman pulled into the city hall parking lot. RP 81-83. As she got out of the car and gathered her belongings, she noticed Hankel standing about a foot away from her, frightening her and making her feel unsafe. RP 82-83. According to Aman, Hankel said, "Is this where I'm going to fuck you at?" RP 84. Aman responded, "what?" RP 84. Hankel repeated his question. RP 84. Aman shook her head no and ran into the building where she worked. She could tell from the reflection in the glass door that Hankel was behind her, although he did not follow her into the building. RP 84.

After the prosecution rested, defense counsel moved to dismiss the burglary charge for insufficient evidence, arguing that Hankel's conduct within the

-8-

building, including his statement to Marquardt that he wanted to have sex with her, was not a threat and did not constitute a crime or proof of intent to commit a crime. RP 85-87.

The prosecutor argued that Hankel could have intended "multiple crimes," but identified assault as the most likely. RP 88.

Judge Swanberg denied the defense motion solely on the grounds that, once the State established an unlawful entry, there was a permissible presumption that it was done with intent to commit a crime therein. RP 89-90.

The defense rested without calling any witnesses. RP 90-91.

During closing arguments, the prosecutor noted that, since it was undisputed that Hankel entered the school building unlawfully, the issue was whether the State had established beyond a reasonable doubt that he

-9-

intended to commit a crime in that building. RP 91-92. The prosecutor argued that Hankel's actions – finding Marquardt isolated, looking at her while in close proximity, standing in the doorway of her small office, and saying "I want to fuck you" – established an intent to assault her, <u>i.e.</u>, an intent to cause reasonable fear for her safety. RP 92-95. Moreover, the prosecutor argued that, as in 2013, Hankel's own words revealed sexual motivation. RP 96-97.

Defense counsel argued the State had failed to prove the commission of any crime or intent to commit a crime. RP 97-98. Defense counsel again conceded, however, the State's proof of criminal trespass:

This at the very most is a criminal trespass in the second degree. We've said that all along. There's just no intent to commit a crime therein that has been proven by the state beyond a reasonable doubt. We'd ask for a verdict of not guilty. Thank you.

RP 98.

Judge Swanberg concluded that, beyond any doubt, Hankel had committed criminal trespass in the first degree. RP 98. He asked defense counsel whether she was asking him to consider that crime and counsel responded she was not. RP 99. Judge Swanberg then indicated:

So I think that there definitely was an offense here. I think it was criminal trespass in the first degree was actually committed on this, but that hasn't been charged, and it hasn't been requested as a lesser included, and I think it was. I think the criminal trespass that would have been, has been committed but not charged, so the Court can't convict on that basis in the first degree....

RP 100.

Judge Swanberg's subsequent and lengthy comments reveal he struggled with the State's proof that Hankel intended to commit a crime in the school building. Specifically, he wrestled over whether Hankel's statement, "I want to fuck you" – although crude and offensive – demonstrated an intent to assault. RP 100106. Judge Swanberg distinguished between what Hankel actually said and, for example, someone saying "I'm going to fuck you," which would naturally be interpreted as an intention to do so. RP 103-106.

Judge Swanberg found no evidence that Hankel took any substantial step toward an actual physical assault of Marquardt. RP 107. Eventually, however, he found the evidence sufficient to conclude that Hankel had intended to assault Marquardt by intentionally causing her fear that she was going to be sexually assaulted. RP 106-108. He therefore found Hankel guilty of burglary in the second degree with sexual motivation. RP 108; CP 40-46.

At sentencing, defense counsel again maintained that the only crime committed was trespass. RP 120 ("I stand very firmly in my position that this is only a trespass and nothing more."); RP 121 (although Hankel's "behavior is not good behavior," it rises only to a criminal trespass).

-12-

The Honorable Alexander Ekstrom imposed a standard range 84-month sentence, followed by 36-months community custody. RP 128; CP 113-114. Had he been convicted of criminal trespass, Hankel faced a maximum sentence of 364 days. <u>See</u> RCW 9A.52.070; 9A.20.021(2).

2. Court of Appeals

On appeal, Hankel made three arguments.

In his first argument, Hankel contended the trial evidence was insufficient to sustain his burglary conviction because the State had failed to establish his specific intent to assault Marquardt. Brief of Appellant, at 13-16; Reply Brief, at 1-4. Although finding no direct evidence that Hankel wished to place Marquardt in fear of harm (<u>i.e.</u>, assault her), the Court of Appeals concluded there was sufficient circumstantial evidence to affirm the conviction. Hankel, Slip Op., at 9-10.

Hankel's second and third arguments in the Court of Appeals are more pertinent to this petition for review.

In his second argument, Hankel maintained that his defense attorney was ineffective for conceding he was guilty of criminal trespass but failing to ask Judge Swanberg to consider conviction on that lesser offense. See Brief of Appellant, at 16-23; Reply Brief, at 5-7.

Specifically, Hankel argued his case was similar to <u>State v. Classen</u>, 4 Wn. App. 2d 520, 422 P.3d 489 (2018). Classen was charged with assault in the second degree. While arguing to the jury for acquittal on that charge, defense counsel conceded, "[Classen] is guilty of assault. There is no question about that. What kind of assault is it? That's the question." <u>Id</u>. at 530. But counsel did not request instructions on assault in the fourth degree and jurors convicted Classen of the only option available to them – assault in the second degree. Id. at 529-530.

-14-

Division Two found counsel's performance deficient, rejecting the State's argument that counsel's "all-ornothing" approach was a legitimate tactic. <u>Id</u>. at 539. Division Two explained:

There is no legitimate reason for which counsel would have sought an all-or-nothing approach in an attempt to secure an acquittal where counsel argued that Classen was guilty of assault." at least some "kind of RP at 300. Additionally, the jury, faced with such a statement from counsel, was likely to resolve all doubts in favor of convicting Classen of the only assault offense before it, second degree assault. See [State v.] Grier, 171 Wash.2d [17], 36, 246 P.3d 1260 [(2011)].

Classen, 4 Wn. App. 2d at 542.

The <u>Classen</u> Court also found prejudice, meaning a reasonable probability the result at trial would have differed had jurors been offered an opportunity to convict Classen of misdemeanor assault. <u>Id</u>. at 542-543 (citing <u>In</u> <u>re Pers. Restraint of Lui</u>, 188 Wn.2d 525, 538, 397 P.3d 90 (2017)). The conviction for assault in the second degree was reversed. Id. at 543-544.

As in <u>Classen</u>, Hankel argued he was entitled to consideration of criminal trespass in the first degree as an alternative to burglary in the second degree, since it qualifies as a lesser-included offense. Brief of Appellant, at 20-21.

And, as in Classen, Hankel argued defense counsel performed deficiently when failing to request consideration of that lesser offense because there was "no legitimate reason for which counsel would have sought an all-or-nothing approach in an attempt to secure an acquittal where counsel argued that [Hankel] was guilty of at least some [crime]." Brief of Appellant, at 22 (quoting Classen, 4 Wn. App. 2d at 542). Faced with defense counsel's candid admission that Hankel had committed criminal trespass, Judge Swanberg was likely to resolve all doubts in favor of convicting Hankel of the only offense before him, burglary in the second degree. Brief of Appellant, at 22.

-16-

Hankel also argued prejudice. Whereas Judge Swanberg struggled with whether Hankel had intended to assault Ms. Marquardt (and therefore struggled with whether there had been a burglary), Judge Swanberg's comments made it clear he believed the crime committed was criminal trespass. Yet, defense counsel never asked for a conviction on that lesser crime to the exclusion of the far more serious burglary. Brief of Appellant, at 22-23.

In rejecting this claim, Division Three cited and followed its recent opinion in <u>State v. Conway</u>, 519 P.3d 257 (2022), where it had criticized Division Two's decision in <u>Classen</u>, finding it in conflict with this Court's opinion in <u>Grier</u>.³ <u>Hankel</u>, Slip Op., at 11-12. As in <u>Conway</u>, and citing <u>Grier</u>, Division Three found that defense counsel could not be deemed ineffective for choosing an all-ornothing approach. Hankel, Slip Op., at 12.

-17-

Finally, in his third argument in the Court of Appeals, Hankel maintained that Judge Swanberg committed reversible error by failing to recognize his discretion to consider the lesser-included crime of trespass regardless of whether defense counsel asked him to do so.

Judge Swanberg had said on the record, "criminal trespass in the first degree was actually committed on this, but that hasn't been charged, and it hasn't been requested as a lesser included . . . so the Court can't convict on that basis in the first degree" RP 100. Hankel cited well-established case law indicating Judge Swanberg was mistaken and could have convicted him of trespass in the first degree without defense counsel asking him to do so. <u>See Brief of Appellant, at 25 (citing In re Pers. Restraint of Heidari</u>, 159 Wn. App. 601, 609-610, 248 P.3d 550 (2011), <u>aff'd</u>, 174 Wn.2d 288, 274 P.3d

³ A petition for review is pending in <u>State v. Conway</u>, No.

366 (2012); <u>State v. Jollo</u>, 38 Wn. App. 469, 474, 685 P.2d 669 (1984)); Reply Brief, at 8-9.

But Division Three found that <u>Grier</u> appears to overrule all earlier cases recognizing a trial judge's authority at a bench trial to sua sponte find guilt on any lesser offense of the charged crime. <u>Hankel</u>, Slip Op., at 14. Deciding not to resolve the apparent conflict, however, Division Three held that, because Judge Swanberg ultimately convicted Hankel on the charged burglary, <u>Grier</u> prevented Hankel from prevailing on the claim regardless of whether Judge Swanberg had mistakenly concluded he could not convict Hankel of trespass. <u>Hankel</u>, Slip Op., at 14-15.

Hankel now seeks this Court's review.

101484-8.

E. <u>ARGUMENT</u>

1. REVIEW OF HANKEL'S SIXTH AMENDMENT CLAIM IS APPROPRIATE UNDER RAP 13.4(b)(2) AND 13.4(b)(3).

The Federal and State Constitutions guarantee all criminal defendants the right to the effective assistance of counsel. U.S. Const. amend. VI; Const. art. 1, § 22 (amend. 10); State v. Thomas, 109 Wn.2d 222, 229, 743 P.2d 816 (1987). A defendant is denied this right when his attorney's conduct "(1) falls below a minimum objective standard of reasonable attorney conduct, and (2) there is a probability that the outcome would be different but for the attorney's conduct." State v. Benn, 120 Wn.2d 631, 663, 845 P.2d 289 (citing Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687-88, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674 (1984)), cert. denied, 510 U.S. 944, 114 S. Ct. 382, 126 L. Ed. 2d 331 (1993).

Review of Hankel's Sixth Amendment claim is warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(2) because Division

-20-

Three's decision in his case quite clearly conflicts with Division Two's published decision in <u>Classen</u>. As in <u>Classen</u>, there was no legitimate reason for an all-ornothing approach where defense counsel admitted Hankel committed an uncharged crime (misdemeanor trespass) but offered no alternative to outright acquittal on the felony charge. <u>See Classen</u>, 4 Wn. App. 2d at 542.

Review is also appropriate under RAP 13.4(b)(3). This Court's decision in <u>Grier</u> (and <u>State v. Breitung</u>,⁴ and <u>In re Crace</u>,⁵ which rely on <u>Grier</u>) currently foreclose ineffective assistance of counsel claims for failure to request consideration of a lesser offense so long as there was sufficient evidence supporting a guilty verdict on the greater offense. In other words, it is effectively impossible in Washington to demonstrate constitutional prejudice for these claims under <u>Strickland</u>. <u>Grier</u>, 171 Wn.2d at 43-

-21-

⁴ 173 Wn.2d 393, 267 P.3d 1012 (2011).

⁵ 174 Wn.2d 835, 280 P.3d 1102 (2012).

44; <u>Breitung</u>, 173 Wn.2d at 398; <u>Crace</u>, 174 Wn.2d at 847-848.

The Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals has rejected Grier as inconsistent with the Sixth Amendment, finding it "perfectly plausible that a jury that convicted on a particular offense at trial did so despite doubts about the proof of that offense - doubts that, with 'the availability of a third option,' could have led it to convict on a lesser included offense." Crace, 798 F.3d at 848 (quoting Keeble v. United States, 412 U.S. 205, 213 (1973)). "Properly understood, Strickland and Keeble are entirely harmonious: Strickland requires courts to presume that juries follow the law, and *Keeble* acknowledges that a jury – even one following the law to the letter – might reach a different verdict when presented with additional options." Id. at 848 n.3.

In affirming habeas relief for Mr. Crace, the Ninth Circuit made clear that analyzing prejudice stemming

-22-

from a failure to ask for consideration of a lesser offense is different from checking for sufficiency of the evidence on the greater charge. <u>Id</u>. at 849.

The Washington Supreme Court's methodology is a patently unreasonable application of *Strickland*, and its decision in this case is thus unworthy of deference under AEDPA . . . [T]he Washington Supreme Court (both in *Grier* and in this case) . . . has sanctioned an approach to *Strickland* that sidesteps the reasonable-probability analysis that *Strickland's* prejudice prong explicitly requires.

<u>Id</u>. at 847. The Ninth Circuit continued, <u>Strickland</u> "does not require a court to presume – as the Washington Supreme Court did – that, because a jury convicted the defendant of a particular offense at trial, the jury could not have convicted the defendant on a lesser included offense based upon evidence that was consistent with the elements of both." <u>Id</u>.

Because the decision in Hankel's case conflicts with <u>Classen</u>, review is appropriate under RAP 13.4(b)(2).

And because this case presents a significant question of federal constitutional law, review is appropriate under RAP 13.4(b)(3) to determine whether <u>Grier</u> should be overturned.

2. REVIEW IS WARRANTED UNDER RAP 13.4(b)(1) AND (b)(2) TO RESOLVE WHETHER <u>GRIER</u> HAS REMOVED TRIAL JUDGES' AUTHORITY TO CONSIDER, SUA SPONTE, CONVICTIONS FOR LESSER OFFENSES AT BENCH TRIALS.

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