FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
2/9/2023 11:32 AM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

Supreme Court No. 1016034

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

THE STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent,

v.

BRANDON ROBERT HANKEL, Petitioner.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ERIC EISINGER Prosecuting Attorney for Benton County

TERRY J. BLOOR Deputy Prosecuting Attorney WSBA No. 9044 OFFICE ID 91004

7122 West Okanogan Place STE A230 Kennewick WA 99336 (509) 735-3591

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

trial court allowed Ms. Aman's testimony under ER 404 (b), to show the defendant's motive and /or a common scheme or plan. RP at 80.

The trial court found the defendant guilty of Burglary in the Second Degree with Sexual Motivation.

State's Comments regarding Defendant's Statement of Facts:

What did the defendant say to Ms. Marquardt?

Ms. Marquardt's direct testimony was that the defendant said to her, "I'm going to f--- you." RP at 44. She stated that he either said, "I'm going to f--- you," or "I want to f---you." RP at 48. She was shown a police report in which she said the defendant told her, "I want to f---you," but was not asked if that refreshed her recollection or if she wanted to change her testimony. RP at 49.

The trial court entered Finding of Fact No. 11, "The defendant then put his hands on the door frame, leaned to his right and told Ms. Marquardt, 'I want to f--- you." The State did not cross appeal regarding that Finding of Fact No. 11.

However, it is not supported by substantial evidence. In any event, the trial court found the defendant guilty even assuming the defendant said the less inculpatory, "I want to f--- you."

Did the trial judge struggle with the State's proof?

The defendant writes, "Judge Swanberg's subsequent and lengthy comments reveal he struggled with the State's proof that Hankel intended to commit a crime in the school building." Br. of Appellant at 11. In the Petition for Review, the defendant goes further by writing, "the trial judge was quite clearly inclined to convict on a lesser offense to the exclusion of the greater." PRV at 25-26. There is nothing in the record to support these statements. In fact, the trial judge tipped his hand by saying, "So, elements of trespass in the second—first degree would be a lesser included, if it was charged or requested by the defense or charged by the state as a lesser-included offense. But this might be irrelevant anyway." RP at 99 (emphasis added.)

Contrary to struggling with the decision, the trial judge did not ask the parties if they wanted a recess after both parties rested. RP at 91. He did not request time to think about his decision after closing arguments. RP at 98.

Consider in addition the way the trial judge described the defendant's conduct:

- The defendant's intent was "to address or confront a female and make a sexual comment to her that would scare that person out of their wits." RP at 100.
- The defendant's actions were "reprehensible." RP at 100,
- Those acts would cause any reasonable person to be terrified. RP at 101.
- That the defendant likes to find women in a vulnerable situation and make sexual statements that puts them in great fear for their safety. RP at 102.
- That the defendant's behavior shows his motive is to cause fear in the victims that he accosts. RP at 106.

- That the defendant's behavior was "deranged" and "twisted" and was done to allow him to enjoy seeing the terrorized reaction of women. RP at 107.
- The trial judge concluded that the defendant went onto the school grounds where he was not permitted and did so with intent to cause a woman to be fearful that he was going to sexually assault her. RP at 107.

There were several questions posed by the trial judge, which should be considered as an outline of the issues in the case, not as a struggle with the evidence. For example, the trial judge said, "What evidence has been presented to actually establish that?" RP at 101. "The Court considering that 404 (b) evidence can consider for purposes of what was meant by the statement, 'I want to f--- you,' in other words, what was the defendant trying to accomplish by doing that?" RP at 106.

III. ARGUMENT

A. The defense attorney's performance was not deficient and did not prejudice the defendant; there is no significant issue of constitutional

law, and the Court of Appeals decision does not conflict with another case.

1. State v. Grier, 171 Wn.2d 17, 246 P.3d 1260 (2011), approving of an all-or-none strategy, was correctly decided.

The defendant relies on Crace v. Herzog, 798 F.3d 840 (9th Cir. 2015). *Crace* was a three-strikes case, in which the defendant, who was hearing voices and seeing things, ran at a police officer with a sword. *Id.* at 843-44. He dropped the sword about 50 feet away from the officer. Id. at 844. He continued to run toward the officer until he was about seven feet away at which point the defendant complied with orders and got on the ground. *Id.* The defense attorney filed a declaration stating that the "only reason [he] did not offer a lesser included instruction for unlawful display of a weapon was because [he] did not consider it." Id. at 852. Mr. Crace was found guilty of the lesser included offense of Attempted Assault in the Second Degree and was sentenced to life without possibility of parole under Washington's three strikes law.

The *Crace* court reversed the conviction finding that the defense attorney's failure to request the Unlawful Display instruction was based on a "misunderstanding of law" rather than a deliberate or strategic decision. The *Crace* court went on to state that the defense attorney's actions were manifestly unreasonable even if he had consciously chosen not to request the lesser included instruction. The *Crace* court stated that it may be reasonable for a defense attorney to opt for an "all-ornone" strategy on some occasions, but not on a three-strikes case and not when the trial court has already given a lesser-included instruction. *Id.* at 852-53.

The *Crace* court also found the defendant was prejudiced because a jury might conclude that the evidence was a "better fit for the lesser included offense." *Id.* at 847.

a. Concerning the first prong of *Strickland*, *Crace* and *Grier* are consistent that a defense attorney is not deficient by pursuing an "all-ornone" strategy.

Grier, 171 Wn.2d at 34, commented that a fair assessment of an attorney's performance must not be made in hindsight and a reviewing court must "evaluate the conduct from counsel's perspective at the time." Grier also said a defendant who is entitled to lesser included instructions may choose to forgo such instructions. Id. at 42. The inclusion or exclusion of lesser included offense instructions is a tactical decision for which defense attorneys require significant latitude. Id. at 39. The Grier court noted that a defendant who wishes to try for a total acquittal can do so.

[T]he ABA's emphasis on client participation in this decision making process reinforces the subjective nature of this decision and suggests that court should be loath to second-guess the defendant's approach, risky or not. *In sum, the complex interplay between the attorney and the client in this area leaves little room for judicial intervention.*

Id. at 39-40. (Emphasis added).

Crace endorsed the "all-or-none" strategy in some cases.

"In certain circumstances, it may be reasonable for a defense attorney to opt for an 'all-or-nothing' strategy, forcing the jury

to choose between convicting on a severe offense and acquitting the defendant altogether." *Crace*, 798 F.3d at 852. In footnote 4 the *Crace* court stated, "Nothing we have said here affects a defense attorney's ability to make a strategic decision to forgo a lesser-included-offense instruction in order to force the jury into an 'all-or-nothing' decision. The reasonableness of that decision would be examined under the performance prong of *Strickland*." *Id.* at 849 n.4. In *Crace*, the problem was the defense attorney was unaware he could request a lesser-included instruction for a crime that would have spared the defendant from a life sentence without possibility of parole.

Here, the defense attorney made a deliberate and strategic decision to not pursue a lesser included option. RP at 34, 99. She was also in good communication with her client about the possibility of waiving a jury trial, she spoke with the defendant about his decision not to testify, she went over the presentence investigation prior to sentencing, and she spoke with him about whether he would allocate at his sentencing. CP 7-8; RP at 90,

111, 120. The defendant had committed a Criminal Trespass, but he and his attorney wanted the court to consider only whether he had committed a Burglary. This was not similar to the defense attorney in *Crace*. The defense attorney's communication with the defendant would be applauded by the *Grier* court: "Thus, assuming that defense counsel has consulted with the client in pursuing an all or nothing approach, a court should not second-guess that course of action, even where, by the court's analysis, the level of risk is excessive and a more conservative approach would be more prudent." (Emphasis added.) *Grier*, 171 Wn.2d at 39.

There is nothing inconsistent between *Grier* and *Crace* regarding whether a defense attorney can pursue an "all-ornone" strategy.

b. Concerning the second prong of Strickland, the Crace case can be distinguished from this case because a judge, not a jury, was the fact finder, the trial judge was decisive about the defendant's guilt on Burglary in the Second Degree and

the Washington jury instructions, unlike the federal instructions, explicitly require a jury to make a decision about the charged crime before considering the lesser included crime.

The *Crace* holding on prejudice from an "all-or-none" strategy was based on the jury making the decision about guilt.

But it does not require a court to presume—as the Washington Supreme Court did—that, because a jury convicted the defendant of a particular offense at trial, the jury could not have convicted the defendant on a lesser included offense based upon evidence that was consistent with the elements of both. To think that a jury, if presented with the option, might have convicted on a lesser included offense is not to suggest that the jury would have ignored its instructions. On the contrary, it would be perfectly consistent with those instructions for the jury to conclude that the evidence presented was a better fit for the lesser include offense. The Washington Supreme Court thus was wrong to assume that, because there was sufficient evidence to support the original verdict, the jury necessarily would have reached the same verdict even if instructed on an additional lesser included offense. As the Supreme Court has recognized in a related context, a jury presented with only two options convicting on a single charged offense or acquitting the defendant altogether— "is likely to resolve its doubts in favor of conviction" even if it has reservations about one of the elements of the charged offense, on thinking that "the defendant is

plainly guilty of some offense." (Citations.) It is therefore perfectly plausible that a jury that convicted on a particular offense at trial did so despite doubts about the proof of that offense doubts that, with "the availability of a third option," could have led it to convict on a lesser included offense. Making this observation does not require us to speculate that the jury would have acted "lawlessly" if instructed on an additional, lesser included offense or to question the validity of the actual verdict. Rather, it merely involves acknowledging that the jury could "rationally" have found conviction on a lesser included offense to be the verdict best supported by the evidence. . . . What *Keeble* teaches us is that a lesser-includedoffense instruction can affect a jury's perception of reasonable doubt: the same scrupulous and conscientious jury that convicts on a greater offense when that offense is the only one available could decide to convict on a lesser included offense if given more choices.

Crace, 798 F.3d at 847-48 (emphasis added.)

The *Crace* court was concerned about the effect on the jury of not having an option. Since this was a bench trial, there is little danger that the trial judge did not do what he thought was appropriate. If the trial judge thought the State had not proven the crime of Burglary in the Second Degree, he would have found the defendant not guilty of that charge, whether

there was a lesser included offense available or not. In this case, the trial judge thought the discussion of lesser included offenses was "irrelevant," did not need any time to collect his thoughts, and concluded that the defendant went onto the school grounds where he was not allowed with the intent to cause a woman to be fearful he would sexually assault her. RP at 99, 107.

There is a distinction between the Washington State instructions on lesser included crimes in WPIC 155.00 and the federal jury instruction, 20.05, on lesser included offense which may explain the *Crace* holding. Washington law requires a jury to first consider the charged crime. Only if the jury acquits the defendant or is deadlocked can the jury consider a lesser include offense. There is no such requirement in instruction 20.05. The jury is allowed to consider whether the evidence is, in the words of *Crace* "a better fit", for the lesser included or the original charge. *Crace*, 798 F.3d at 847.

Finally, with all due respect to the *Crace* court, to hold that an "all-or-none" strategy is available to a defense attorney and to then say that the strategy will always prejudice a defendant is not consistent. Either the strategy is available to defense attorneys, as the *Crace* court said in footnote 4 and at 852, or it is not available because it necessarily prejudices the defendant.

2. State v. Classen, 4 Wn. App. 2d 520, 422 P.3d 489 (2018) was a fact-specific case and it is not inconsistent with Grier.

The defendant cites *State v. Classen*, 4 Wn. App. 2d 520, 422 P.3d 489 (2018), but there are several differences between that case and the case herein. First, it was a jury trial; this was a bench trial with little chance that the Judge would give a compromised verdict. As the *Classen* court stated, "the jury (given the defense attorney's closing argument quoted below) was likely to resolve all doubts in favor of convicting Classen of the only assault offense before it, second degree assault." *Id.* at 542.

Second, in *Classen*, the defense attorney's only statement regarding a Second-Degree Assault charge, was "[Classen] is guilty of assault. There is no question about that. What kind of assault is it? That's the question." *Id*. The *Classen* court concluded that this argument did not amount to any strategy at all and was an admission that the defendant committed second degree assault. *Id*. The defense attorney herein was a strong advocate for her client and gave compelling, but not convincing, reasons to find him not guilty.

Third, the *Classen* court at 541, cited *State v. Hassan*, 151 Wn. App. 209, 211 P.3d 441 (2009) as authority for when a lesser included jury instruction could not be given. *Hassan* at 218-20, cited *State v. Ward*, 125 Wn. App. 243, 104 P.3d 670 (2004), which was abrogated by *Grier*. The *Classen* court never used the *Grier* court's analysis of the interplay between the defendant and the defense attorney leading to the conclusion that there is little room for judicial intervention in the issue of an "all-or-none" strategy. The defense attorney's closing

statement in *Classen* was by itself ineffective and led to the conclusion that the defendant must be guilty of Second-Degree Assault.

B. The Court of Appeals decision is not in conflict with other published decisions regarding a judge's authority at a bench trial to find the defendant guilty of a lesser offense whether asked to or not.

The defendant characterizes the Court of Appeals decision as refusing to recognize that a judge in a bench trial lacked the authority to convict the defendant of a lesser included offense when he was not charged with that offense and the defense did not request the judge consider a lesser-included offense. That is incorrect. The Court of Appeals herein noted a split of authority and, rather than resolving the split of authority, stated that the issue was inconsequential to the verdict. The trial judge found the defendant guilty of the charged crime, Burglary in the Second Degree. There was no need to address a lesser included instruction. See Court of Appeals decision at 13-15.

Since the Court of Appeals decision did not wade into which line of cases was correct, there is no conflict between that decision and any published case.

IV. CONCLUSION

Accordingly, the petitioner for review should be denied.

This document contains 3,537 words, excluding the parts of the document exempted from the word count by RAP 18.17.